

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

Applying a Positive Approach

Contents

Contents2
Introduction3
A Positive Approach to Youth Development4
Youth-centred5
Strengths-based6
Inclusion for All7
Participation and Empowerment9
Safe Environment11
Positive Relationships13
Personal Development14
Skill Development15
Age and Developmental Phase Appropriate17
Delivery in a Diversity of Contexts18
Sufficient Duration and Frequency19
Bibliography20

Introduction

The South Australian Government made a commitment through youthconnect: South Australia's Youth Strategy 2010-2014, to develop best practice guidelines to support South Australian organisations to deliver youth development programs based on a positive approach.

The Youth Development: Applying a Positive Approach handbook has been written in response to this commitment.

The years from 12 to 24 are a critical stage for young people; they build on the experiences of childhood and generate the foundations for adulthood. During this period, each young person has a number of key tasks to undertake. How well each of these is mastered affects the degree of success each of them will experience in their adult life.

While these key tasks are common to all young people, there is tremendous diversity in young people's individual characteristics and backgrounds, such as gender, culture, being a recent migrant or refugee, socio-economic status, sexual orientation, rural or urban location, disability, religious affiliation and family structure. The interaction of these characteristics has a significant effect on the development process, life experience and outcomes and, therefore need to be carefully considered in a youth development approach.¹

This handbook outlines a number of program values and characteristics that

reflect a positive approach to youth development. It also provides examples of putting a positive approach into practice.

Many organisations already deliver high quality youth programs; this handbook reflects these practices and acknowledges their work.

Adopting a positive approach to youth development will support young South Australians to reach their full potential.

Note - This document is based on literature related to positive youth development. This approach is an emergent area of research with some variation. Therefore this document does not include all elements of a positive approach but provides an operational foundation.

A list of resources, literature reviews and research that informed the development of this handbook can be found in the Bibliography.

A Positive Approach to Youth Development

Positive youth development is focused on what is needed for young people to develop the skills and attitudes they need now and in the future.

In order to thrive young people require a range of personal attributes (competencies, knowledge, experiences, behaviours and beliefs) that support them to make positive choices. Evidence indicates that a young person's personal attributes both protect them from risky behaviours and promote positive attitudes and actions. They are a stronger predictor of whether a young person will engage in negative risk-taking behaviour than either their social or demographic profile.

Positive youth development seeks to support young people to develop the attributes they need by focusing on the promotion of positive experiences and qualities. It is an approach that builds on participants' strengths rather than focusing on perceived problems or issues.

Studies of young peoples' engagement in youth development programs suggest a strong relationship between their involvement in such programs and reduced involvement in risky behaviours and activities and the development of knowledge, skills and competence in a diverse range of life skill areas.

However the quality and the context of a program matters. The values and

characteristics described in this handbook support the design and delivery of programs that contribute to positive youth development.

Three fundamental values should underpin all positive youth development programs. They are:

- youth-centred
- strengths-based
- inclusion for all.

In addition there are eight characteristics of effective youth programs. These characteristics are:

- participation and empowerment
- safe environment
- positive relationships
- personal development
- skill development
- age and development phase appropriate
- delivery in a diversity contexts
- sufficient duration and frequency.

Many of the values and characteristics are inter-related and complementary; organisations may be able to address them directly or indirectly when designing their programs. For example, a program that is youth-centred and engages the participants in program decision making will promote supportive relations between adult facilitators and young people.

Youth-centred

Fundamental value

Young people are placed at the centre of all program decisions.

Positive youth development programs ensure that young people are central in all aspects of the program. The 'youth centred' value is broader than ensuring a young person's active participation; it goes to the organisation's core practices around working with, and for, young people.

For a program to be 'youth centred' all activity needs to engage with young people, including governance discussions, program planning, implementation, evaluation, relationships and communication.

Youth-centred development programs provide participants with opportunities to take responsibility and embrace lead roles in setting program goals and challenges.

Adult facilitators provide a supportive environment including gauging the appropriate level of responsibility of participants when setting these goals and challenges.

Programs provide opportunities for young people to contribute to making a real difference in their lives and/or the community and for their contributions to be recognised and valued.

Positive youth development includes giving young people access to experiences that build leadership, boost self-confidence and awareness and connect young people to caring adults.

- Adult facilitators actively create opportunities for young people to participate in decision making; young people inform the development, design, implementation and evaluation of all youth programs.
- Young people are supported to fully engage in a program. Additional support is provided when required to achieve this, for example, peer mentoring by experienced participants; provision of additional information and resources to support young people to build their knowledge base and be more informed.
- Adult facilitators actively seek input and contributions from participants in an environment free from judgment or fear of retribution, for example, regular group meetings or planned opportunities for participants to provide formal and informal feedback.
- Young people are treated as equals.
- Young people are valued and respected and are seen as active, contributing members of society now and in the future.
- Young people are supported and encouraged to learn new things and engage in new experiences in safe and supportive environments.

Strengths-based

Fundamental value

Programs focus on developing the personal attributes of the participants and build on their individual strengths.

A strengths-based approach is a respectful and meaningful starting point in supporting positive outcomes for young people.

Anjh positive approach focuses on building the personal attributes of the participants. It promotes development of skills, behaviours and beliefs that contribute to thriving in young people. It does not focus on addressing perceived problem-behaviour.

By drawing upon individuals' personal attributes, adult facilitators and young people can work together on mutually agreed goals. This can empower young people to take a lead role in their own development.

- Program design intentionally develops one or more personal attributes within the participants, building on their strengths and interests.
- Young people are encouraged to identify and build their own personal strengths and attributes with the support of adult facilitators.
- Adult facilitators encourage young people to see challenges as capacity building opportunities and support them to tackle these challenges in a respectful, supportive and nonjudgemental manner.

Inclusion for All

Fundamental value

Programs develop the personal attributes that all young people need to thrive.

'Inclusion for all' focuses on what all young people need from themselves and others to thrive, have positive wellbeing and reach their full potential.

It recognises that all young people, regardless of their background or circumstances, may need support to acquire a range of skills, abilities, behaviours and beliefs to thrive. It complements the strengths-based approach and personal development focus of program design.

This value does not detract from recognising that program design can be targeted to address the needs or issues of a specific group of young people.

- Program activities promote and build personal attributes that are required by all young people to successfully thrive. Life skills, including personal and social skills are a significant part of program activities and are fostered in participants.
- A diversity of young people with different life experiences, backgrounds and cultures are supported to participate. This will broaden and deepen the experiences of the participants and provide a foundation for learning and respect through exposure to a variety of experiences, attitudes and beliefs.
- Programs involving young people of diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds acknowledge and respect their cultural values, beliefs, tradition and customs. Adult facilitators are sensitive to their own cultural framework and the impact this has on their youth development practice.
- Targeted programs, designed for specific cohorts of young people, are still founded on a strengths-based, personal development, approach.
 Targeted programs promote the attributes required by all young people to thrive in addition to building skills to address assessed issues or needs. For example:
 - a program targeted at young people in or exiting the juvenile justice system would develop a broad range of attributes with the

Office for Youth

- additional aim of building their capacity to address the factors that contributed to their offending.
- a program designed for young
 Aboriginal people would develop a broad range of attributes with an additional focus on cultural values and supporting cultural identity.

Participation and Empowerment

Characteristic

Young people are involved in program design and are active participants in decision making processes.

Program evaluation and review are undertaken using youth participation practices.

Programs developed in partnership with young people are more likely to be effective at engaging them and therefore have greater impact. Involving young people as partners in making decisions that affect them increases the likelihood that the decisions will be accepted and adopted.

Participatory evaluation empowers young people by providing opportunities for them to highlight issues of importance to them.

Empowerment is an important outcome of youth participation. Empowerment promotes increased self-esteem and self-worth within young people.

- Young people are recognised as equal partners in the program.
- Young peoples' opinions are heard and respected and inform decision making.
- Young people are provided with opportunities for leadership and teamwork.
- With appropriate support and guidance, young people are given control of processes and decisions. For example, young people actively influence program decisions such as when, where and how program activities will take place; they chair meetings, discussions and forums; and inform budget decisions and expenditure.
- Adult facilitators plan how young people will be involved in decision making rather than just adding youth representatives to an adult planning group.
- Strategies are developed in partnership with young people to support their engagement in decision making processes.
- Barriers to young people's
 participation are examined and
 addressed prior to program
 commencement including but not
 limited to location, timing, duration
 and cost. For example activities for
 young people are accessible by public
 transport and do not conflict with
 young peoples' work or study
 commitments.

- Activities are designed to be interactive, engaging and fun while providing skill development opportunities, for example teamwork or leadership skills. Adult facilitators allow adequate time to talk with young people about their experience of the activity and any reflections.
- Where possible and appropriate, activities and experiences should apply or relate to real life situations.
- Adult facilitators allow time for young people to create their own experiences, for example, they do not try and resolve problems for participants' rather they are supportive and interested but allow the participants to develop their own solutions.
- Young people are involved in all aspects and stages of program evaluation.

Safe Environment

Characteristic

All programs and activities occur in safe physical and psychological environments.

Physical and psychological safety are prerequisites to a positive approach to youth development.

Young people learn better and participate more fully when they feel physically and emotionally safe. A safe environment encourages honesty, trust and respect amongst and between adult facilitators and young people.

- Organisations have an appropriate child safety policy that meets relevant child protection legislation requirements.
- Organisations have an appropriate anti-bullying policy in place.
- All program participants, activities and behaviours respect and actively promote diversity in culture, religion and sexual-orientation. This can be promoted via a code of conduct for both adult facilitators and young people.
- Program activities are conducted in premises that are physically safe and secure, where emergency procedures are clearly displayed and young people have a safe place to store their belongings.
- Programs are delivered in an environment that is relaxed, comfortable and welcoming, with age and culturally appropriate furnishings and resources.
- Programs are delivered in culturally sensitive and inclusive environments, including displaying information in a culturally appropriate manner.
- Young people are involved in developing processes for dealing with conflict that clearly outline how conflict will be resolved and how disrespectful behaviour (bullying, harassment, name calling) will be handled.
- Adult facilitators consider the implications of the age of participants in a program. For example, the

definition of 'youth' is 12 to 25, which could see young people aged *under* 18 being in programs or shared spaces with those *over* the age of 18 (i.e. young adults). This may present child safe environment issues that will require management.

- Adult facilitators consider the cultural appropriateness of program activities.
- Adult facilitators consider the gender appropriateness of program activities Alternatives may need to be developed to support young men and young women to participate in activities.
- Adult facilitators use positive language to create and reinforce positive relationships and environments.
- Organisations have appropriate insurance coverage and the program's participants and activities are included in such coverage.
- Organisations undertake a comprehensive risk assessment during program design to identify any risks. Appropriate controls are developed to address any key risks identified prior to the commencement of program activities.

Positive Relationships

Characteristic

Programs promote positive relationships and mutual respect between all program participants, for example between adult facilitators and young people, within the participant group, and between adult facilitators and other staff and volunteers.

Positive relationships bring safety, stability and encouragement to a young person's life. Positive relationships are critical for their development. Young people need to learn to build meaningful relationships with both peers and adults (such as parents, teachers and other significant adults in their lives).

Positive adult/youth relationships are developed when adult facilitators follow the lead of young people, cultivate a culture of youth participation and balance the stretching of participants with appropriate support, assistance and mutual respect.

The role of an adult facilitator is to demonstrate the attributes and qualities of a positive role model and relate to a young person in a way that supports their development.

- Adult facilitators have appropriate skills and competencies, for example, the ability to:
 - understand and apply youth development principles
 - communicate and develop positive relationships with young people and their families
 - adapt, facilitate and evaluate age and developmental phase appropriate activities with and for young people
 - respect and honour cultural and human diversity
 - involve and empower young people
 - identify potential risk factors and take measures to reduce those risks
 - care for, involve and work with families and communities
 - work as part of a team and show professionalism
 - demonstrate the attributes and qualities of a positive role model
 - interact with, and relate to, young people in ways that builds their personal attributes.
- Adult facilitators and young people display mutual respect, recognising each other's views are equally valued, without the adults' views being held in higher regard as 'experts'.
- Adult facilitators support and promote peer group learning, where participants share and learn from each other in a safe environment free from judgment and harassment.

Personal Development

Characteristic

Programs promote and foster the development of a range of personal attributes in the participants.

Personal attributes are the set of competencies, knowledge, experiences, behaviours and beliefs that support young people to thrive. A program does not have to address a wide range of attributes as evidence indicates that strength in one attribute will offset weakness in another. However, it also shows that a young person with more attributes will have greater resilience than a person with fewer.

Programs aiming to build young people's attributes may focus on fostering:

- behavioural, emotional, social, cognitive and moral competence
- self-efficacy
- resilience
- self-determination
- positive identity
- cultural identity
- a belief in the future
- pro-social attitudes.

Putting it into practice

- Adult facilitators work with young people to identify which attributes the program will focus on and design activities that promote and foster these attributes.
- Programs do not need to address all attributes but should clearly articulate which attribute/s related to a program's objectives will be developed and how program activities will support this.

Note: The list of attributes provided are drawn from an analysis of programs that achieved positive change in young people. It is not exclusive and the attributes to be developed in a program should reflect the views and needs of the participants.

Skill Development

Characteristic

Programs provide a range of activities that promote sequential skill development and opportunities for young people to use and refine skills.

Programs include activities that teach skills and provide opportunities for participants to practice skills and to reflect on their success and learning.

- Adult facilitators provide opportunities for young people to identify skills and/or learning needs and incorporate these into program design.
- Young people are involved in developing program activities and are responsible for their own participation. Activities should be fun, interesting, meaningful and reflect the needs and wishes of young people rather than replicating adult learning environments.
- Program activities are developmental building blocks, with each activity or experience building on the last.
- Program design reflects skill
 development occurring over time.
 The focus is on quality, sequential
 skill development sustained over time,
 rather than providing many
 opportunities to learn a range of skills
 but no opportunities to practice and
 refine them.
- Skill development activities include realistic but high expectations, where young people are encouraged and supported to extend themselves to achieve outcomes.
- Skill development activities can include both individual and team goals and allow time to reflect on successes, failures, growth and learning.
- Skill development activities are age, gender, culture and developmentally appropriate and allow for diversity in learning styles.

- Programs provide young people with opportunities to be challenged by learning through doing, combining theoretical knowledge with practical application. For example:
 - team building skill activities have a theoretical component: participants discuss team roles, how teams work effectively and team 'norms'. This knowledge is then put into practice by organising young people into groups to undertake an agreed task, asking them to allocate roles, develop their own team norms and work together to achieve the task.
 - if incorporating a community service component in a program, this is based on a service learning approach a method that combines instruction and skill development with a related activity. The community service activity should be performed across several months and support the participants to develop and use skills and develop positive relationships.

Age and Developmental Phase Appropriate

Characteristic

Program activities and their structure and supervision are appropriate to the age and development phase of participants.

'Youth' is defined as the period between the ages of 12 and 25. It covers a period when young people experience rapid physical, psychological, and social changes and growth. Program activities need to consider and address the diversity of needs associated with age and development milestones during this time.

Program structure and supervision supports age-appropriate levels of autonomy, reflecting the increasing social maturity and expertise of adolescents as they progress to adulthood. Both too little and too much structure and adult supervision is related to poorer outcomes for participants.

- Organisations are aware of and consider the skills, expertise and experience of adult facilitators in relation to their ability to meet the needs of the age and developmental stage of program participants.
- When setting individual and team goals, adult facilitators ensure they are age and developmental phase appropriate to make success achievable. Opportunities to assess setbacks and learn from activities are provided. Adult facilitators work with young people to identify and make changes to enable successful outcomes if required.
- Adult facilitators develop strategies
 that address the age range of
 participants, for example, they
 consider how a 12 year old participant
 might experience an activity versus a
 21 year old. Some activities might
 require participants to be managed or
 grouped differently to reflect their age
 or developmental phase, or for
 different activities to be set for
 different age groups.
- Adult facilitators are mindful that age does not necessarily indicate an individual's developmental ability.

Delivery in a Diversity of Contexts

Characteristic

Programs operate in as many contexts as possible.

'Contexts' refers to where a program activity takes place and the opportunities this provides for young people to engage with people and communities. For example, in a school, the community, within family, with peers or in a workplace/professional environment.

A broader range of contexts will provide young people with opportunities to interact with a breadth of diversity of people, communities and social groups. Operating in a number of contexts is important as it increases young people's access to the range of support, experience and opportunities they require to develop.

Evidence suggests that programs that operate in one or two contexts positively affect young people's knowledge and attitudes with some impact on behaviours - whereas programs that operate in three contexts positively affects their knowledge, attitudes, behaviours and beliefs.

- Program activities are delivered in at least two contexts. For example, a school-based program also operates in another context, such as the community or family setting.
- Adult facilitators work with young people to determine which contexts are most suitable to support the program's objectives and the attributes to be developed and discuss the merits of these selections. This will help young people set goals and identify the benefits gained through the experiences.

Sufficient Duration and Frequency

Characteristic

Program length and frequency support the positive youth developmental approach.

Evidence suggests that the length of programs have an impact on the outcomes for young people. These are maximised when they participate in a program that lasts one year or longer, with less significant but still positive outcomes for programs that last between six months and one year. However, programs of shorter duration will not adequately meet a range of important characteristics of the positive approach including sequential skill development and promoting positive adult/young person relationships.

Regular, planned opportunities to engage in programs provide young people with stability, time to reflect and form opinions, and the ability to plan and prioritise activities in their lives. Frequent, regular activities will support meaningful relationships to develop and for participants to acquire and use learnt skills. However, activity frequency should consider other issues such as program fatigue.

- A program occurs over a twelve month period. Where this is not possible, a minimum of six months is suggested.
- Adult facilitators plan program activities with young people for the entire program period and include ongoing elements such as relationship building and sequential skill development.
- Adult facilitators work with young people to determine the appropriate duration and frequency for each program activity and what mechanisms are required to support the participation of young people.
- Planned program activities occur regularly, for example once per fortnight. If activities occur more frequently, consideration must be given to how program fatigue will be avoided. Weekly activity will require a higher level of planning to ensure activities are fun, engaging and beneficial for participants as a lack of sufficient planning can result in young people tiring of the program and disengaging.
- A schedule of program activities is developed with young people, providing young people with stability and structure and therefore promoting participation and engagement.

Bibliography

Almguist, P., et al, Keys to Quality Youth Development, University of Minnesota, Extension Center for Youth Development, Minnesota (undated).

Ausyouth, Good Practice in Youth Development: A Framework of Principles, Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2001.

Ausyouth, "Better than fantastic": Young people talk about youth development Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2002.

Ausyouth, Volunteering and Youth Development: Making a positive difference Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2002.

Ausyouth, School and Community Partnerships for Youth Development Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2003.

Ausyouth, Creating the Environment for Youth Development Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2003.

Ausyouth, Learning from what young people have to say, Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2003.

Ausyouth, Youth Development, Service Learning and Schooling Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2003.

Ausyouth, "It's the Way That You Do It that Counts": Case studies of positive youth development in Australia
Department of Family and Community Services, Commonwealth of Australia, 2003.

Barcelona, R.F., A competency-based approach to preparing staff as recreation and youth development leaders, New Directions for Youth Development, no. 130, Summer, 2011.

Brown Urban, J., Component and characteristics of youth development programs: The voices of youth-serving policymakers, practitioners, researchers and adolescents, Applied Development Science, Vol 12, no. 3, 2008.

Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.S., Hawkins, J.D., Positive Youth Development in the United States: Research Findings on Evaluations of Positive Youth Development Programs, University of Washington, 1998.

Government of South Australia, Office for Youth, Good practice guidelines for supporting young people who are homeless, 2011.

Holdsworth, R., Lake, M., Stacey, K., and Stafford, J., *Doing Positive Things: Outcomes for participants in youth development programs*, Australian Youth Research Centre, 2005.

Lerner, J., et al, Positive youth development: Processes, philosophies and programs in Weiner, I.B., *Handbook of psychology*, 2nd ed, Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, 2013.

Lerner, R.M., Promoting Positive Youth Development: theoretical and empirical bases, Institute for Applied Research in Youth Development Tufts University, 2005.

McLean, K., Youth Development: Literature Review, Ministry of Youth Affairs, June 2002.

Meltzer, I.J., Fitzgibbon, J.J., Leahy. P.J., and Petsko, K.E., *A Youth Development Program: Lasting Impact*, Clinical Pediatrics, September 2006 vol. 45 no. 7 pps 655-660.

Ministry of Youth Affairs, Youth Development: Strategy Aotearoa, New Zealand Government, January 2002.

Mohamed, I.A and Wheeler, W., Broadening the Bounds of Youth Development: Youth as Engaged Citizens The Ford Foundation & The Innovation Center for Community and Youth Development, 2001.

National Service-Learning Clearinghouse, Fact Sheet: Benefits of community based service learning, (undated). See:

www.servicelearning.org/instant_info/fact _sheets/cb_facts/benefits-community-based-service-learning.

Pittman, K.J., Irby, M., Tolman, J., Yohalem, N., Ferber, T., *Preventing Problems, Promoting Development, Encouraging Engagement: Competing Priorities or Inseparable Goals?* The Forum for Youth Investment, 2003.

Plant, M., Bozick, R., and Regnier, M., Helping because you have to or helping because you want to? Sustaining participation in service work from adolescence through to young adulthood, Youth & Society vol 38 no. 2 December 2006.

Rhodes, J. E., and Roffman, J. G., 'Relationship-based interventions: The impact of mentoring and apprenticeship on youth development'. In F. Jacobs, D. Wertlieb, & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), Handbook of applied developmental science: Promoting positive child, adolescent, and family development through research, policies, and programs: Vol. 2. Enhancing the life chances of youth and families: Public service systems and public policy perspectives 2003.

Schulman, S., and Davies, T., *Evidence* of the impact of the 'youth development model' on outcomes for young people – a literature review, The National Youth Agency, 2007.

Search Institute, *Developmental Assets*, http://www.search-
institute.org/developmental-assets.

Seymour, K., Good Practice Principles for Youth Development Organisations, second edition, Griffith University, 2012.

Wierenga, A., and Wyn, J., *Generic Youth Development Framework: A discussion document*, Youth Research Centre, The University of Melbourne and the Department of Defence, 2011.

Zeldin, S., Bestul, L., Powers, J., Youth Adult Partnerships in Evaluation (Y-AP/E): A resource Guide for Translating Research into Practice, Act for Youth Center of Excellence, Cornell University Ithaca, NY, 2012.

¹Ministry of Youth Affairs, *Youth Development: Strategy Aotearoa,* New Zealand Government, January 2002. pp11-12

Notes